
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Jacob Andersen <jacob@iisd.org>, Andrew Baldwin <andrew@iisd.org>, Fiona Koza
<fiona@iisd.org>, Leila Mead <leila@iisd.org> and Kira Schmidt <kira@iisd.org>. The Digital Editor is Andrei Henry <andrei@iisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D.
<pam@iisd.org> and the Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James "Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Operations Manager is Marcela Rojo
<marcela@iisd.org> and the On-Line Assistant is Diego Noguera <diego@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the Rockefeller Foundation, the Netherlands
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the United States (through USAID), the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests and Landscape (SAEFL),
the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development  - DFID, and the Foreign & Commonwealth Office), the European Commission (DG-ENV), the
Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and the Government of Germany (through German Federal Ministry of Environment  - BMU,  and the German Federal Ministry of
Development Cooperation - BMZ). General Support for the Bulletin during 2002 is provided by the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Finland, the Government of
Australia, the Ministry of Environment and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Sweden, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade of New Zealand, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs
and Environment of Norway, Swan International, and the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies – IGES). The Bulletin can
be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. IISD can be contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East,
6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of
IISD and other funders. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. For
permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services. Electronic versions of the Bulletin are sent to e-mail distribution lists
and can be found on the Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca. The satellite image was taken above New York ©2002 The Living Earth, Inc. http://livingearth.com. For
information on the Earth Negotiations Bulletin or to arrange coverage of a meeting, conference or workshop, send e-mail to the Director, IISD Reporting Services at
<kimo@iisd.org>.

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable DevelopmentVol. 13 No. 86 Wednesday, 6 March 2002

Earth Negotiations Bulletin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

II
SD

# 3

UNFF-2 online at http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/forestry/unff/unff2/

UNFF-2

UNFF-2 HIGHLIGHTS:
TUESDAY, 5 MARCH 2002

On the second day of UNFF-2, delegates met in a Working Group 
to discuss preparations for the high-level ministerial segment in a 
morning session, and to continue deliberations on the draft terms of 
reference for the three ad hoc expert groups in an afternoon session.

WORKING GROUP
PREPARATIONS FOR THE HIGH-LEVEL MINISTERIAL 

SEGMENT: Ositaadinma Anaedu (Nigeria) chaired the Working 
Group discussion on preparations for the high-level segment. He 
invited delegates to comment on an information paper containing 
“Possible elements for a ministerial message from UNFF-2 to 
WSSD.” Venezuela, on behalf of the G-77/CHINA, recommended 
that the ministerial message endorse the UNFF Plan of Action and that 
it be an important input to the World Summit on Sustainable Develop-
ment (WSSD). He stressed that finance, technology transfer and 
capacity building are critical issues for developing countries. 

The US recommended that the ministerial message emphasize 
implementation of the IPF/IFF proposals for action and focus on, inter 
alia, partnerships and lessons learned in sustainable forest manage-
ment (SFM). She urged ministers to reaffirm the role of the Collabora-
tive Partnership on Forests (CPF) in supporting the UNFF’s work. 
NEW ZEALAND stressed the need for the message to justify the 
importance of forests, outline actions that have been taken, note that 
problems persist, and identify what remains to be done.

SWITZERLAND recommended that the ministerial message 
highlight: the relationship between forestry and sustainable develop-
ment, economic welfare and poverty eradication; the need to address 
forest issues comprehensively; and progress achieved since the UN 
Conference on Environment and Development (UNCED). INDO-
NESIA stated that the message should avoid technical and controver-
sial issues and should not be seen as a substitute for the Plan of Action, 
which will also be submitted to the WSSD.

Spain, for the EU, said the ministerial message should be a Minis-
terial Declaration directed not only to the WSSD, but also to the sixth 
Conference of Parties (COP-6) of the Convention on Biological 
Diversity (CBD). He said the Declaration should, inter alia: 
encourage coordination, cooperation and synergies between various 
international and regional forest-related instruments and processes; 
support the integration of forests into other sectors; and recognize the 
multipurpose role of forests and their contribution to sustainable 

development and poverty eradication. It should also make specific 
commitments to: national implementation of the IPF/IFF proposals for 
action; the UNFF’s role and its success; the Plan of Action; and facili-
tation of the necessary human, technical and financial resources 
nationally and by international cooperation. CANADA stressed that 
the message should be strong, inspiring and useful to all ministers, not 
only forest ministers. She urged the WSSD to address the conse-
quences of current consumption and production patterns on sustain-
able development, and suggested that concepts such as “ecological 
footprints” could be used to address the impacts of current patterns. 

BRAZIL said the statement should recognize developing country 
efforts in implementing structural reforms to attract investment and 
highlight means of implementation of SFM, such as trade, finance and 
transfer of technology. The RUSSIAN FEDERATION said the WSSD 
provides an opportunity to enhance the status of forests on the interna-
tional agenda. CHINA called on the international community to 
strengthen international cooperation, financing, transfer of technology 
and capacity building. JAPAN highlighted the multiple benefits of 
forests, emphasized good governance and law enforcement, and said 
ministers should address illegal logging. TURKEY highlighted the 
universal nature of forests and underscored the importance of partner-
ships. GHANA said the WSSD provides an opportunity to highlight 
the plight of forests in Africa, underscored linkages between forestry 
programmes and poverty alleviation, and recommended addressing 
capacity building, illegal logging and law enforcement. 

The G-77/CHINA called for a focus on common denominators 
rather than unresolved issues. LATVIA stressed the need to finance 
SFM and to make it self-financing in the long term. CUBA said that 
the specific characteristics and needs of developing countries in 
implementing the IPF/IFF proposals for action should be recognized, 
and stressed the need for developed countries to comply with commit-
ments regarding ODA. AUSTRALIA highlighted the need for a short 
and sharp message that, inter alia, recognizes country problems and 
progress on forests, and stresses the need for synergies. INDIA advo-
cated a concise and focused ministerial message that affirms political 
will and commitment to forest issues. She said the message should 
emphasize the role of forests in sustainable development and 
cautioned against the inclusion of issues that lack consensus. 
MALAYSIA proposed linking economic development and poverty 
eradication to ensure a balanced message. 



Wednesday, 6 March 2002  Vol. 13 No. 86 Page 2Earth Negotiations Bulletin
 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

SOUTH AFRICA said the message should express concern with 
continued deforestation and forest degradation while acknowledging 
progress, and stressed the need to assist regions that lack capacity in 
implementing the IPF/IFF proposals for action, such as the Congo 
Basin. COSTA RICA stressed the need to strengthen the position of 
forests on the political agenda at the national and international level, 
strengthen cooperation and coordination mechanisms on forests, and 
include forests in the review of environmental governance at the inter-
national level. He highlighted the need to better evaluate the contribu-
tion of forests to economic development and poverty eradication. 

GREENPEACE and the GLOBAL FOREST COALITION 
emphasized the need for the ministerial statement to address the under-
lying causes and cross-cutting issues responsible for forest degradation 
and loss, and to focus on primary forests. She urged the UNFF to send 
a message to CBD COP-6 affirming its support for and commitment to 
implementation of existing and future CBD decisions on forests. 
Stressing that forests will receive political attention only if the UNFF 
joins forces with the CBD, she recommended that the UNFF and the 
CBD together send a strong message to WSSD about the importance of 
forests and their conservation and sustainable use. 

INTERSESSIONAL WORK: Patricia Chaves (Costa Rica) 
chaired an afternoon meeting of the Working Group to continue 
discussion on the draft terms of reference of the ad hoc expert groups. 

Ad Hoc Expert Group on MAR: Delegates considered a G-77/
CHINA proposal calling on the MAR expert group to recommend 
guidance to UNFF work on forest-related concepts, terminology and 
definitions. The US noted the difficulty in developing common defini-
tions but said it would support the clarification and compilation of 
common terms used by relevant international organizations. On 
another G-77/CHINA proposal recommending that the group establish 
criteria for monitoring and assessment of international support to assist 
developing countries in implementing the IPF/IFF proposals for 
action, the US, JAPAN and the EU opposed addressing financing 
within the MAR expert group’s terms of reference, suggesting instead 
that the issue falls under the scope of the expert group on finance and 
transfer of environmentally sound technologies (ESTs).

Regarding text recommending that the MAR expert group consider 
the results of country- and organization-led intersessional activities 
related to MAR, the US proposed that the group also contribute to such 
activities. When CANADA expressed concern about the potential cost 
of this proposal, the US suggested instead that the expert group 
provide its reports to country- and organization-led initiatives as 
appropriate.

On the composition and participation of the group, the EU, 
supported by CANADA, SWITZERLAND, and INDONESIA, reas-
serted that the group should provide the UNFF with scientific and tech-
nical advice and not duplicate the UNFF process. He proposed that the 
group be composed of 15 experts, three from each UN region, supple-
mented by eight CPF and four major group experts. JAPAN proposed 
that the group be composed of 30 experts, six from each UN region. 
The US proposed limiting the size of the group to 25, five from each 
UN region. With the EU, she said CPF representation should consist of 
up to eight experts. The G-77/CHINA proposed that the group play a 
facilitating role, be composed of 25 experts, five from each UN region, 
and remain open to intergovernmental organizations and accredited 
major groups. 

CUBA stressed that budgetary constraints must not restrict devel-
oping country participation in the group. Jag Maini explained that the 
total allocation for the biennium would cover the costs of two meetings 
of two expert groups with three experts from each of the five UN 
regions. Regarding participation of major groups, Vladimir Zelenov, 
Senior Officer and Deputy Secretary of ECOSOC, clarified that major 
groups could participate only as observers. Hosni El-Lakany, Chair of 

the CPF, preferred that the number of CPF representatives remain 
open. CUBA asked if the Forum could take a decision earmarking 
funding specifically for developing country experts. The US inquired 
whether the expert groups’ terms of reference could state explicitly 
that the budget cover only developing country participants. Zelenov 
responded that it was up to the Forum to decide whether financial 
support should go specifically to developing counties. The US further 
clarified that the expert groups were not subsidiary bodies and could 
only make recommendations to the UNFF. The US, supported by the 
G-77/CHINA, opposed language authorizing the Bureau and the 
Secretariat to review credentials and approve nominees, as this was for 
governments to decide. JAPAN suggested that the expert groups be 
supported by voluntary contributions. 

Ad Hoc Expert Group on Finance and Transfer of ESTs: On the 
scope and work programme of the expert group on finance and transfer 
of ESTs, the G-77/CHINA supported the existing reference to the 
mandate of the UNFF as contained in a list of paragraphs in ECOSOC 
Resolution E/2000/35 and the report of UNFF-1 (E/2001/42/Rev.1). 
The EU and the US preferred stating that the expert group’s work 
should be undertaken within the context of the ECOSOC Resolution 
and resolutions from UNFF-1. 

On the tasks of the group, the US proposed that it consider previous 
initiatives on finance, as well as relevant IPF/IFF proposals for action, 
background papers and strategy documents of CPF members. CHINA 
proposed adding a reference to developing countries with fragile 
ecosystems to a task on identifying gaps, potentials and limitations of 
current financing to implement SFM in developing countries. 

BRAZIL recommended that the group’s terms of reference high-
light the need to explore means to intensify international cooperation 
on provision of finance and transfer of technology, including debate on 
a global fund for forests and global mechanisms for technology 
transfer. She supported the immediate initiation of the group’s work 
and its completion by UNFF-4, with a preliminary report to UNFF-3. 
CUBA proposed an additional task on assessing the role and status of 
ODA and its importance for SFM, particularly to assist developing 
countries in attaining adequate financial resources. 

Regarding a task on suggesting new approaches of increasing 
financing sources for SFM, the EU preferred that the group “discuss” 
rather than “suggest” such approaches, and INDIA proposed speci-
fying that this occur “through implementation of national forest 
programmes.” The EU, supported by JAPAN, recommended deleting a 
reference specifying consideration of the concept of an “Investment 
Promotion Entity” and a global forest fund. 

Chair Chaves invited delegates to submit written proposals on the 
terms of reference for all three expert groups by 6:00 pm Wednesday, 
which the Bureau would use to produce a compilation text for further 
discussion. 

IN THE CORRIDORS
Although difficulties with work on the terms of reference for the 

expert groups continued on Tuesday, some delegates expressed satisfi-
cation with the ease of the first round of discussions on possible 
elements for a ministerial message to the WSSD. Others seemed disap-
pointed with the lack of substance in the message, hoping for a 
“juicier” and more inspirational statement that would ensure that 
forests not be lost amidst the multitude of other issues being addressed 
at the WSSD.

THINGS TO LOOK FOR TODAY
MULTI-STAKEHOLDER DIALOGUE: UNFF-2 delegates 

will convene in Plenary at 10:00 am and 3:00 pm in Conference Room 
1 to engage in a multi-stakeholder dialogue. The dialogue will focus on 
the review of progress in the implementation of the IPF/IFF proposals 
for action within the context of elements being considered at UNFF-2.


